ABSTRACT

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RESILIENCE AND NCAA DIVISION I SWIMMING TIMES

In National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) competition, each swimmer's result contributes to the team score, and hundredths of a second can be the difference between first and eighth place. Resilience, the ability to respond positively to setbacks, obstacles, and failures (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012), is thought to be important for peak performance. It was hypothesized that high resilience scores would have a relationship with faster swimming times at the collegiate level. Male and female NCAA Division I swimmers (n=246) completed the Conner-Davidson Resilience Scale-10 (Davidson & Connor, 2015) and a demographic survey. Swimming times from Fall 2015 were gleaned from a public website (USAS wimming, 2016), which officially documents results for all NCAA competitions. A Pearson's r correlation coefficient was performed to evaluate the relationship between resilience scores and swimming times. An independent t-test was calculated to compare swim times between swimmers who had experienced injury/illness and those who had not. A One-Way ANOVA was performed to examine the differences between athletic scholarships and swimming times. No statistically significant relationship between resilience scores and swimming times was found. Also, no significant difference was found for the secondary hypotheses. Possible explanations for the lack of significant findings are discussed. Implications for coaches, certified athletic trainers, and mental training practitioners were also discussed.

Igor Kowal May 2016

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RESILIENCE AND NCAA DIVISION I SWIMMING TIMES

by

Igor Kowal

A thesis

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Kinesiology in the College of Health and Human Services California State University, Fresno May 2016

APPROVED

For the Department of Kinesiology:

We, the undersigned, certify that the thesis of the following student meets the required standards of scholarship, format, and style of the university and the student's graduate degree program for the awarding of the master's degree.

> Igor Kowal Thesis Author

Jenelle N. Gilbert (Chair)

Wade D. Gilbert

Kinesiology

Kinesiology

Stephanie D. Moore-Reed

Kinesiology

For the University Graduate Committee:

Dean, Division of Graduate Studies

AUTHORIZATION FOR REPRODUCTION

OF MASTER'S THESIS

X I grant permission for the reproduction of this thesis in part or in its entirety without further authorization from me, on the condition that the person or agency requesting reproduction absorbs the cost and provides proper acknowledgment of authorship.

> Permission to reproduce this thesis in part or in its entirety must be obtained from me.

Signature of thesis author:

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my mother I would have never made it here without her You are far away but it feels like you're near Your daily love and support, it's so sincere... Kocham Cię.

Thank you to my big brother You're one of a kind, there is no other. You taught me life lessons I will never forget. I miss you and will live a life I will never regret.

Thank you Dieter for loving my Mom, Knowing she's in good hands keeps me calm. Without your financial support, My academic dreams would've fell short.

Thank you to the rest of my family. Thank you for supporting me emotionally. I know you are always there for me, You are my family, which you will always be. Thank you to my closest friends, Matt and Arturo, forever until my life ends. Thank you Alphonso, Blake, and Ivan. With fun, you showed me the light at the horizon.

A thank you to Dr. Jenelle Gilbert is special, You took every part of me to the next level. Thank you for your support and for pushing me in every way, I will always appreciate it even if I'm miles away.

Thank you Dr. Wade Gilbert and Dr. Stephanie Moore-Reed, Because of you, my brain has been freed. You challenged every idea and thought, Your experience and knowledge is worth a lot.

> Thank you to the rest of the faculty, For my brain to experience hypertrophy. All of your knowledge combined, Makes this program one of a kind.

Thank you to the Women's Swimming and Diving Team, For letting me pursue my passion and dream. I appreciate every moment on the road and the pool deck, Without you all, I would've been a wreck.

> Thank you to everyone else in my life, You gave me an environment to strive. I will remember all of you and never forget, I am thankful for everyone I met.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
Purpose Statement
Research Questions
Hypotheses4
Significance of the Study4
Delimitations4
Limitations5
Definition of Terms5
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW
Resilience7
Mindset14
Summary
CHAPTER 3: METHODS
Participants21
Instruments
Procedures
Data Analysis23
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS
Research Question 125
Research Question 225
Research Question 326
Research Question 426
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Х

Resilience and Swimming Times	
Resilience and Athletic Scholarship	
Resilience and Nationality	
Resilience and Injury/Illness	
Implications	
Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research	
Summary	
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEY	
APPENDIX B: INITIAL E-MAIL	
APPENDIX C: E-MAIL WITH LINK TO SURVEY	
APPENDIX D: E-MAIL REMINDER 1	
APPENDIX E: E-MAIL REMINDER 2	
APPENDIX F: E-MAIL REMINDER 3	
APPENDIX G: E-MAIL REMINDER 4	
APPENDIX H: E-MAIL REMINDER 5	

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

In the movie *Rocky Balboa* (2006), the son of the world champion boxer tells his dad that he is too old to fight again and that he will just embarrass them both if he attempts to do so. Rocky responds to his son by saying:

The world ain't all sunshine and rainbows. It's a very mean and nasty place and I don't care how tough you are it will beat you to your knees and keep you there permanently if you let it. You, me, or nobody is gonna hit as hard as life... (Chartoff & Winkler, 2006)

As described in this quote, every person experiences adversity in life. However, by the very nature of the athletic context, athletes are faced with a high occurrence of adversity (Belem, Malheiros Caruzzo, Andrade do Nascimento Junior, Lopes Vieira, & Fiorese Vieira, 2014; Galli & Gonzalez, 2015; Howells & Fletcher, 2015). For student-athletes at the collegiate level, there are many factors that could contribute to adversity.

The transition from high school to college can be a major adjustment for all, but for athletes in particular (Harris, Altekruse, & Engels, 2003). Students and athletes in general experience adversity factors, which include relationships with friends and significant others, injury, athletic setbacks, family, and nutrition. When transitioning to college, students are taking new courses and meeting new people, but college athletes are also experiencing new coaches, harder workouts, and increased pressure to compete well.

In *Rocky Balboa* (2006), Rocky continues to talk to his son about resilience: "...but it ain't about how hard you hit. It's about how hard you can get hit and keep moving forward. How much you can take and keep moving forward. That's how winning is done" (Chartoff & Winkler, 2006). Resilience is important in sports because it facilitates one's ability to overcome challenges and adapt after a setback (Belem et al., 2014; Galli & Vealey, 2008; Sarkar & Fletcher, 2013; Schinke & Jerome, 2002). Athletes with high resilience are able to make adjustments and return to their best performance focus when distracted or a situation moves them away from their comfort zone (Galli & Vealey, 2008; Turner & Barker, 2013). High resilience can be very beneficial to be able to push the body and mind to its limits by overcoming challenges (Belem et al., 2014; Galli & Vealey, 2008; Schinke & Jerome, 2002).

In the sport of swimming one hundredth of a second could mean not making a qualifying time standard, not qualifying for the national team, the difference between first and second place, or even more devastating, the difference between third and fourth place. When one considers the effort needed to improve a personal best by even a hundredth of a second, it is apparent why resilience is so important. This may be especially true for swimmers who compete in shorter distances.

A concept similar to resilience is a "growth mindset" (Dweck, 2008). When individuals believe that certain traits are malleable and that hard work and effort can lead to success, they are considered to have a growth mindset (Blackwell, Trzesniewski, & Dweck, 2007; Dweck, 2008, 2010, 2012). The growth mindset enables a person to grow beyond their comfort zone and push their body and mind to higher levels, which would allow for higher performance in academics, athletics, and life in general (Dweck, 2008). In contrast, an individual with a fixed mindset believes that certain traits are unchangeable and that success is predisposed (Blackwell et al., 2007; Dweck, 2008, 2010, 2012).

Simply the knowledge of the two mindsets can lead a person into a growth mindset (Blackwell et al., 2007; Dweck, 2008, 2012; Paunesku et al., 2015;

Romero, Master, Paunesku, Dweck, & Gross, 2014; Sriram, 2014; Yeager & Dweck, 2012; Yeager et al., 2014). Dweck and her colleagues (Blackwell et al., 2007; Dweck, 2008; Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Paunesku et al., 2015) have identified and conducted research on growth and fixed mindsets in several domains such as education and business, but they have given minimal attention to the context of sport. Because a growth mindset could foster a resilient athlete, and the similarity of the two concepts and the adversity that athletes experience on a daily basis, an examination of resilience in swimming is warranted.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between resilience scores and swimming times. Data regarding athletic scholarship, nationality, injury and illness, and year in college were used to study the differences on resilience scores.

Research Questions

The current study examined the main research question: (1) Is there a significant relationship between resilience and swimming times in NCAA Division I swimmers? Secondary research questions included: (2) Is there a significant difference in resilience scores between athletes with different types of athletic scholarship? (full athletic scholarship, partial athletic scholarship, no athletic scholarship); (3) Is there a significant difference in resilience scores between athletes from different nationalities (U.S. citizen, international student)?; (4) Is there a significant difference in resilience scores between athletes who experienced injury and illness and athletes who did not?

Hypotheses

The hypotheses were generated from the research questions and included the following:

H1: Resilience scores and power point scores will have a significant positive relationship.

H2: Resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers with higher scholarships compared to swimmers with lower scholarships.

H3: Resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers who are international students compared to swimmers who are U.S. citizens.

H4: Resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers who experienced injury/illness compared to swimmers who did not experience injury/illness.

Significance of the Study

Currently there is limited research on resilience within the sport of swimming. But given the potentially high occurrence of adversity within the sport, especially when considering the minimal time differences in results, it was anticipated that the results of the current study would help the swimming population. This study provided insight into the relationship between resilience and swimming performance. It was hypothesized that high resilience scores would potentially result in better swimming performance. Results from this study will assist researchers and sport psychology consultants in developing future research, coaching methods, and interventions to foster higher resilience in athletes.

Delimitations

The first delimitation for this study was that only NCAA athletes who are between the ages of 18 and 24 years were included. This age limit of 18 to 24 years is set because only Division I student-athletes are included in this study and due to NCAA regulations the ages do not deviate from this age range. Division I schools from the United States are used in this study, which is another delimitation because Division II, Division III, and NAIA schools were not included. Only Division I swimming programs were selected because of the large number of swimming programs in the United States and because of time restrictions for the completion of this study. Also, Division I swimmers are anticipated to be the best performers, which allowed to examine the main hypothesis.

Limitations

A limitation for the study was that the researchers were not able to contact the student-athletes themselves. Instead, the swim coaches were contacted and asked to share the invitation to participate in the study with their student-athletes. If coaches failed to disseminate the study invitation, did so in a less than timely manner, or discouraged their student-athletes from getting involved, this would have impacted the student-athlete response rate. Another limitation is that the participant group only included NCAA Division I swimmers, thus the results could not be generalized to Division II, Division III, NAIA, or USA swimming club team swimmers. Also, the current study's results could not be generalized to professional swimmers and swimmers who are younger than 18 or older than 24. The researchers assumed that the athletes filled out the questionnaires truthfully.

Definition of Terms

<u>Division I</u> – The National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA, n.d.) has defined Division I as follows:

Among the three NCAA divisions, Division I schools generally have the biggest student bodies, manage the largest athletics budgets and offer the

most generous number of scholarships. Schools who are members of Division I commit to maintaining a high academic standard for studentathletes in addition to a wide range of opportunities for athletics participation. (para. 2)

<u>Fixed mindset</u> – is if a person has a belief that his or her traits like intelligence (or talents, personality, and so on) are unchangeable (Sriram, 2014).

<u>Growth mindset</u> – "is based on the belief that your basic qualities are things you can cultivate through your efforts. Although people may differ in every which way – in their initial talents and aptitudes, interests, or temperaments – everyone can change and grow through application and experience" (Dweck, 2008, p. 7).

<u>NCAA</u> – "The National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) is a nonprofit organization. Its members are a diverse group and are located all over the country – including more than 1,200 colleges and universities, conferences and other organizations" (Allegany County Public Schools, n.d.)

<u>Resilience</u> – Resilience is the ability to respond positively to setbacks, obstacles, and failures (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012).

<u>Student-Athlete</u> – is a collegiate student, who participates in a collegiate sport under NCAA rules with an amateur status (NCAA, n.d.).

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter provides a synthesis of the existing literature in the topics of resilience and mindset. First, the literature about resilience was reviewed, including resilience and Olympic athletes, resilience and scholarship, resilience in international students, resilience and injury, mental skills used to improve resilience, and measurement of resilience. Second, the author reviewed the literature on mindset, which investigated the effects of a growth mindset in different areas including education, culture, parenting, business, and physical performance.

Resilience

Athletes experience a lot of adversity and it is important for them to know how to deal with it (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Galli & Gonzalez, 2015; Galli & Vealey, 2008; Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Sarkar & Fletcher, 2014; Turner & Barker, 2013). Athletes who know how to cope well with adversity are considered to have high resilience (Galli & Gonzalez, 2015; Sarkar & Fletcher, 2014; Schinke & Jerome, 2002). Resilience is an important factor in athletic success (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Galli & Gonzalez, 2015; Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Sarkar & Fletcher, 2014; Turner & Barker, 2013). Because of the adversity athletes dealt with early on in life, they were able to learn skills on how to deal with adversity and use these skills to become successful in sports (Howells & Fletcher, 2015).

In fact, resilience is considered to be an essential factor for the overall measurement of mental toughness in athletes (Madrigal, Hamill, & Gill, 2013). "Mental Toughness is a characteristic many believe to be important for success in sport" (Madrigal et al., 2013, p. 62). Mental toughness is a combination of various psychological factors that allow an athlete with high mental toughness to outperform the competition that has low mental toughness (Gucciardi & Gordon, 2009; Madrigal et al., 2013). Generally, it is described to be the factor that distinguishes between successful and unsuccessful athletes (Gucciardi & Gordon, 2009; Madrigal et al., 2013).

Resilience and Olympic Athletes

The majority of athletes who compete at the Olympic level have high resilience (Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Turner & Barker, 2013). An investigation of the British tennis player Andy Murray and his career showed high resilience, as he was able to overcome major losses (Turner & Barker, 2013). Also, researchers examined how Andy Murray developed after winning the 2012 Olympics. Not only did Andy Murray have strong resilience after adversity, but also after major success, considering the life changes of increased popularity, attention, and pressure (Turner & Barker, 2013). This suggests that resilience is not only important after failure, but also after success (Turner & Barker, 2013).

Resilience is not only important in the sporting context, but is also related to life stressors (Howells & Fletcher, 2015). Similar level Olympic athletes like Andy Murray were researched on their levels of resilience and what kind of adversity they overcame to make it to that level of competition (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Howells & Fletcher, 2015). Many of these athletes experienced difficult times in their childhood. For example, Michael Phelps (22-time Olympic medalist) dealt with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Amanda Beard (7-time Olympic medalist) coped with Dyslexia and Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD) (Howells & Fletcher, 2015). However, results with 12 Olympic gold medalists suggested a positive relationship between high resilience and success in their sport (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012). The studies reviewed about Olympic athletes contribute to the understanding of resilience in sports. However, Olympic medalists are a very rare sample within the athlete population and their results cannot be generalized to every athlete. This is why the current research investigated resilience in NCAA Division I swimmers.

Resilience and Scholarship

In swimming, the athlete who has the fastest swimming times would generally receive the highest athletic scholarship. However, research has described positive (Milton, Freeman, & Williamson, 2012; Rubin & Rosser, 2014) as well as negative factors (Judge, Bell, Theodore, Simon, & Bellar, 2012; Raedeke, 1997) that affect athletes when receiving a high athletic scholarship. Higher athletic scholarship is described to have a relationship with higher GPA (Milton et al., 2012) and less drop-out of school because of financial reasons (Rubin & Rosser, 2014). On the other hand, athletic scholarship has been identified as a factor that could lead to burnout (Judge et al., 2012). Athletes competing with an athletic scholarship might change their mindset from "I want to" to "I have to," which can lead to more stress and a heightened feeling of entrapment (Raedeke, 1997).

Past research suggested there was a difference between athletes with scholarships and athletes who did not receive a scholarship (Rubin & Rosser, 2014; Le Crom, Warren, Clark, Marolla, and Gerber, 2009). Rubin and Rosser (2014) investigated differences between scholarship and non-scholarship athletes. One of the significant findings was that athletes on scholarship had lower drop-out rates from college, because the athletic scholarship supported them financially (Rubin & Rosser, 2014). However, Le Crom and colleagues (2009), conducted a similar study and found that scholarship was not a factor that contributed to retention of student-athletes.

Another aspect that has been examined is the relationship between athletic scholarship and GPA (Milton et al., 2012). According to Milton and colleagues (2012), there was a significant relationship between higher athletic scholarship and higher GPA. This result suggested that athletes with higher athletic scholarships experience less adversity in the academic field because they have better grades (Milton et al., 2012).

However, when investigating the occurrence of burnout, a comparison between men and women revealed that males were more prone to burnout with high athletic scholarship and females were more likely to burnout with low athletic scholarship (Judge et al., 2012). The authors reported that females who had higher athletic scholarships also had higher academic scholarships, which would explain the lower rate of burnout in higher scholarships for females because they do not have to solely rely on the athletic scholarship (Judge et al., 2012). Because of the potential negative effects of scholarship (i.e., burnout and added stress), the second hypothesis was generated for the current study. This hypothesis states that the higher the athletic scholarship, the higher the resilience.

Resilience in International Students

International students experience a major change when they come to the United States to continue their education in college (Jing, 2009). To understand the difficulties of international students, past research identified multiple factors that would cause adjustment for an international student. The main factors identified to cause difficulties were culture shock, social disconnectedness (Baba & Hosoda, 2014; Olivas & Li, 2006; Oropeza, Fitzgibbon, & Baron, 1991), financial stress, academic pressure, and discrimination (Baba & Hosoda, 2014; Oropeza et al., 1991). Other factors were included such as homesickness, comfort level communicating in English, changes in status (social and economic), and isolation (Baba & Hosoda, 2014; Oropeza et al., 1991).

Oropeza and colleagues (1991), identified expectations about academics being unrealistic, which would cause an adjustment for international students. However, a past study analyzed expectations of academics in the United States and compared U.S. citizens with international students (Kaczmarek, Matlock, Merta, Ames, & Ross, 1994). Results suggested that there was no significant difference and that their expectations were realistic (Kaczmarek et al., 1994).

These factors make it difficult for international students to adjust, which makes moving to the United States for school a major change. Students who are able to overcome the adversity and who are able to cope with the major change would be considered resilient (Jing, 2009). Jing (2009) measured resilience and the ability to deal with changes. Participants (n = 207) filled out the Organizational Development Resources' Personal Resilience Questionnaire and the Michigan International Student Problem Inventory to gather information about resilience and adjustment to college (Jing, 2009). Results suggested that students with higher resilience scores had fewer adjustment problems (Jing, 2009). These results helped to generate the hypothesis that international students would have higher resilience scores than U.S. citizen students.

Resilience and Injury

Resilience is an important factor after traumatic brain injury (TBI) (Hanks, Rapport, Perrine, & Millis, 2016), as well as spinal cord injuries (Kilic, Dorstyn, & Guiver, 2013; White, Driver, & Warren, 2010), and multiple traumas (Hanks et al., 2016; Kilic et al., 2013; White et al., 2010; Quale & Schanke, 2010). Even though resilience has been identified as important, the previous literature does not provide information about the changes of resilience before and after injury. The studies investigated the differences of resilience in severity of injury (Kilic et al., 2013), changes of injury throughout the rehabilitation process (White et al., 2010), and differences between TBI patients and individuals without cognitive impairment (Hanks et al., 2016). The studies reviewed in the injury area suggested that there was no difference in resilience when examining severity of injury, different periods during rehabilitation, and comparing patients with TBI and patients not cognitively impaired (Hanks et al., 2016, Kilic et al., 2013, White et al., 2010).

No research investigated one population such as athletes and the differences of resilience scores in athletes who experienced injury and athletes who did not. The hypothesis that athletes who experienced injury/illness had higher resilience scores than athletes who did not is granted.

Mental Skills and Resilience

Mental skills can be used to achieve peak performance (Orlick, 2008). Mental skills have also been identified as helping athletes overcome adversity and improve resilience (Belem et al., 2014; Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Howells & Fletcher, 2015). Multiple studies have been reviewed to examine mental skills and their effectiveness for resilience (Belem et al., 2014; Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Schinke & Jerome, 2002).

Research has identified certain mental skills that can improve resilience in athletes. The mental skills that have been identified as impactful to resilience were motivation, confidence, focus, perceived social support, finding a meaning in the things they do for swimming, goal setting, coachability, personal assumptions, disputing strategies, and de-catastrophizing (Belem et al., 2014; Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Schinke & Jerome, 2002). The studies suggested that there are many mental skills that provide an effective intervention for better resilience in athletes (Belem et al., 2014; Fletcher & Sarkar, 2012; Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Schinke & Jerome, 2002).

Measurement of Resilience

The main instrument used to measure resilience is the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC), which was used in different areas such as business (Manzano-García & Ayala Calvo, 2013), medicine (Fujikawa et al., 2013), socioeconomic status (Coates, Phares, & Dedrick, 2013), and with athletes (Belem et al., 2014). However, due to the nature of the current study, the subsequent information will focus on the use of the CD-RISC in athletics.

An example of a study that used the CD-RISC in an athlete population was done with 48 beach volleyball players (Belem et al., 2014). The researchers investigated the athletes' usage of coping skills and the CD-RISC was used to measure resilience of the participants (Belem et al., 2014). Researchers used the Athletic Coping Skills Inventory-28 (ACSI-28) to investigate the use of coping skills and results suggested "the coping skills that had an impact on the resilience of athletes were personal coping resources, coping with adversity, confidence and motivation, goal setting/mental preparation, and coachability" (Belem et al., 2014, p. 447).

In conclusion, resilience has been demonstrated to be an important component of success in the athletic realm (Galli & Gonzalez, 2015; Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Turner & Barker, 2013). Therefore, resilience and its relationship with swimming performance of NCAA Division I student-athletes was investigated in the current study. It was posited that resilience and a growth mindset have similar characteristics. In the following paragraphs, growth and fixed mindsets will be explored further.

<u>Mindset</u>

Is someone intelligent because of genetics or did the environment shape a person to be either more intelligent or less intelligent? Dweck and her colleagues investigated the idea of the mindset, which would suggest that intelligence would be malleable, hence influenced by the environment through factors like praise after completing certain tasks in school (Dweck, 2008, 2010; Gunderson et al., 2013). However, growth and fixed mindsets have not only been explored in education (Blackwell et al., 2007; Dweck, 2008; Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Paunesku et al., 2015; Romero et al., 2014; Sriram, 2014; Yeager & Dweck, 2012), but also in culture (Dweck, 2012), parenting (Erdley, Loomis, Cain, & Dumas-Hines, 1997; Gunderson et al., 2013), business (Heslin & VandeWalle, 2008; Tabernero & Wood, 1999), and physical performance (Evans & Slater, 2014; Kasimatis, Miller, & Marcussen, 1996; Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Ommundsen, 2001; Spray, Biddle, Chatzisarantis, & Wang, 2003).

Education

Dweck and colleagues investigated the two mindsets and their specific relationship with intelligence (Dweck, 2008; Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Paunesku et al., 2015). Studies have suggested that the growth mindset plays a major role in the intelligence of students (Blackwell et al., 2007; Dweck, 2008, 2010; Mueller & Dweck, 1998; Paunesku et al., 2015; Romero et al., 2014; Sriram, 2014; Yeager & Dweck, 2012). The review of literature suggests two approaches of investigating mindsets in education. The first approach was to identify if a student was in the growth or fixed mindset and then look at improvement in grades over time (Blackwell et al., 2007; Dweck, 2008; Romero et al., 2014). The second approach was to implement an intervention that would teach the growth mindset to students and then compare grades to students who did not receive the growth mindset intervention (Dweck, 2008; Paunesku et al., 2015; Sriram, 2014; Yeager & Dweck, 2012).

For the first approach, researchers investigated how a growth mindset compares with a fixed mindset. Blackwell et al. (2007) examined the differences in math grades from students who believed that intelligence is changeable (growth mindset) and the students who believed that intelligence is unchangeable (fixed mindset). Seventh grade students (n = 373) were tested on their beliefs about achievement and if they believed in a growth or fixed mindset. Students were followed for 2 years and their mathematics test scores were collected throughout that period. Students who considered intelligence to be malleable, significantly improved on math test scores compared to the students who thought intelligence is fixed (Blackwell et al., 2007). Similar studies to Blackwell et al. (2007) have found the same results, which supports the idea that having a growth mindset could positively influence grades in school (Dweck, 2008; Romero et al., 2014).

The second approach investigated if a growth mindset intervention could lead to an improvement in grades (Dweck, 2008; Paunesku et al., 2015; Sriram, 2014; Yeager & Dweck, 2012). Paunesku et al. (2015) used a research design, where they investigated four different groups with one group learning that intelligence is changeable; the second group learning that there is a purpose to what they are doing (e.g., "I want to make a difference in life"); the third group learning both the mindset intervention and the purpose to what they are doing, and the fourth group being the control group. There were 1594 students who participated in this study and the results suggested that the mindset intervention and the combined intervention had a significant impact on the grade point average (GPA) with a mean change in GPA by 0.15. However, this was only significant for the students who were at high risk, which means they were considered to be students who will drop out or fail classes (Paunesku et al., 2015).

The results were supported by Yeager and Dweck (2012). Sriram (2014) investigated a similar concept to Paunesku et al. (2015) and Yeager and Dweck (2012), but did not find a statistically significant increase in GPA. Though the results in education on the effects of a growth mindset intervention are not completely consistent, there is a positive trend that the intervention is beneficial for students, especially for the ones that are considered to be at high-risk of dropping out or failing classes (Paunesku et al., 2015; Yeager & Dweck, 2012).

Culture

Another topic that has been investigated about the effects of the two different mindsets is culture or more specifically stereotyping between cultures (Dweck, 2012). Dweck (2012) examined how growth and fixed mindsets affected responses to attitudes between Palestinians and Israelis. First, Israelis were studied and they were divided into two groups. One group received an article, which described that a group can change and that their traits are not fixed. The other group received an article, which described that groups cannot change and that their traits are fixed. Afterwards both groups received a 75-item questionnaire asking questions geared towards Israeli society and the results suggested that the group who read the growth mindset article were more likely to have positive attitudes towards Palestinians than the group who read the fixed mindset article (Dweck, 2012).

The same study was also done with Palestinians but the measures and questionnaires were changed to Palestinian society and their attitudes towards Israelis (Dweck, 2012). Similar results were found with Palestinians compared with Israelis. Simply by reading an article about how a group can change, participants were led to a growth mindset. This shows the effectiveness of a simple intervention to promote a growth mindset (Dweck, 2012).

Parenting

Parenting is important in the development of the child because parents are the child's first teachers and they are the ones who will direct their child into a growth or fixed mindset (Dweck, 2008). Parenting, and more specifically, the types of feedback used by parents toward their children were investigated. Gunderson et al. (2013) observed parents of 53 children between the ages of 14 and 38 months. The researchers documented praise that the parents gave to their children and if it emphasized their effort or inherent ability. After 5 years, Gunderson et al. (2013) studied the children to determine their beliefs regarding mindset. Results suggested that the children who received parental praise for effort were significantly more likely to have a growth mindset as compared to those who received praise for their inherent ability.

This suggests that parental praise is very important in the development of a child's mindset (Gunderson et al., 2013). With the correct praise, parents can give their children the opportunity to be in a growth mindset, which will have a positive impact on success later on in life in various aspects like for example intelligence or physical activity (Blackwell et al., 2007; Kasimatis et al., 1996).

Business

In a business setting, the investigation of the mindsets was considered vital, as employees are required to perform in a way that will lead to a company's success (Dweck, 2008). The studies reviewed suggest that a growth mindset has a positive impact on tasks required by managers (Heslin & VandeWalle, 2008; Tabernero & Wood, 1999).

Tabernero and Wood (1999) and Heslin and VandeWalle (2008) explored how a fixed or growth mindset differed related to the field of business. Students who had no prior knowledge and experience of managerial tasks were investigated (Tabernero & Wood, 1999). First, participants filled out a questionnaire, which included two questions about their mindset. One question was if a managerial task was something that could be learned from practice and experience, and the other question was if it was an ability that cannot be improved. Participants were given a task to assign employees to different jobs based on ability and task difficulty. "Participants with an implicit personal conception of ability as an incremental skill had stronger perceived self-efficacy, were less dissatisfied with their performance, and set themselves more challenging goals, than those with a fixed-entity conception" (Tabernero & Wood, 1999, p. 117).

In a second business-related study, actual managers were categorized as having either a growth or fixed mindset (Heslin & VandeWalle (2008). Afterwards, participants watched a video of a hypothetical employee who performed poor negotiations. The ratings of the employee were compared between growth and fixed mindset managers.

The extent to which the managers held a growth mindset positively predicted their accurate recognition of improvement in the employee's performance. In other words, managers with a fixed mindset did not fully acknowledge the extent to which the employee's performance had improved (Heslin & VandeWalle, 2008, p. 220). Both studies support the idea that a growth mindset allows for better performance on managerial tasks and better evaluation of employees by managers (Heslin & VandeWalle, 2008; Tabernero & Wood, 1999).

Physical Performance

Growth and fixed mindsets have also been investigated with respect to physical performance. It is proposed that a growth mindset could have a positive influence on motivation with coordination tasks (Kasimatis et al., 1996), athletic ability (Spray et al., 2003) and self-handicapping in physical education classes (Ommundsen, 2001).

Kasimatis et al. (1996) and Spray et al. (2003) studied motivation in physical performance and how it related to mindset. Mindsets were manipulated to investigate their impact on the performance of a physical activity (Kasimatis et al., 1996). First, all participants did an easy physical activity task, which was a 5-min step exercise video with an easy difficulty. One group was told that learning new physical tasks is either an ability that can be learned (growth mindset), while the other group was told that learning new physical tasks was genetically predisposed and therefore can't be changed (fixed mindset). Afterward, they performed a more difficult physical activity program, which was also a 5-min step exercise but was much more challenging. Students who had the growth mindset intervention reported higher motivation and self-efficacy as compared to the fixed mindset intervention (Kasimatis et al., 1996). Also, a growth mindset predicted more enjoyment in physical activity (Spray et al., 2003) and a lower amount of selfhandicapping (Ommundsen, 2001). The mindset was examined in physical activity in mostly PE classes but no research is available for athletes at the collegiate level. College athletes could greatly benefit from a growth mindset, as the collegiate level is the pre-stage of most professional athletes, and which is why this population was chosen for the current study.

Summary

The literature about resilience and mindsets show that these variables are important to performance success in many different fields such as education (Blackwell et al., 2007; Paunesku et al., 2015; Yeager & Dweck, 2012), business (Heslin & VandeWalle, 2008; Tabernero & Wood, 1999), and physical performance (Kasimatis et al., 1996; Spray et al., 2003). Resilience is shown to have a similar concept to a growth mindset, which is why the literature of the mindset was reviewed. Resilience is also suggested as an important factor for athletic success. However, studies exploring resilience and as it relates to swimming performance is limited. The current investigation is critical in the field of swimming because of the minimal amount of time difference that separates success and failure, which suggests that the current study is warranted. The current study contributes to filling a gap in the literature and may also provide a starting point for applied sport psychology consultants seeking to develop resilience interventions for their work with athletes. Finally, results of the current study could assist coaches in looking for resilient athletes to recruit into their programs.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

Participants

Participants included 246 NCAA Division I student-athlete swimmers, who competed on their collegiate swimming and diving team. A random sample from all United States Division I schools was used to comprise the participant pool. Consistent with swimming programs throughout the country, the age range for the participants was 18 to 24 years (M = 19.71; SD = 1.60) and the ethnic distribution was African American = 1, Asian = 8, Hispanic = 14, Pacific Islander = 1, Caucasian = 205, other = 14, and chose not to disclose = 3. Additionally, the sample included more females (n = 188) than males (n = 58) due to larger numbers of swimming programs for female athletes as a result of Title IX compliance requirements.

Instruments

Data were collected via the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale 10 (CD-RISC 10) (Davidson & Connor, 2015) a demographics survey, and a Power Point calculator. The CD-RISC 10 and the demographic survey were distributed electronically via Qualtrics. The Power Point calculator was used to convert swimming times into a Power Point score.

The CD-RISC 10 was designed to measure the level of resilience in participants. The CD-RISC 10 is a shortened version of the CD-RISC 25, which was reduced from 25 items to 10 items. Coates et al. (2013) suggested that it has strong reliability and validity. The ten questions are answered on a 5-point Likert scale with the anchors ranging from 0 (not true at all) to 4 (true nearly all the time). The total score ranges from 0 to 40, with 40 being the highest level of resilience. No sample items were provided due to copyright restrictions. The demographics survey (see Appendix A) solicited standard demographic information including age, years of competitive swimming, personal top three events, athletic scholarship, gender, year in college, nationality, ethnicity, and injury and illness. As part of the data collection process, swimming times from the fall 2015 season were gleaned from USASwimming (2016). The website is a public database of collegiate swim performance times. The participant's name was entered to receive all times that have been swum by the individual in collegiate competition. In order to match the participants' questionnaire data with their swim performance, the demographic survey requested participants to provide their names. However, participant names were kept separate from other information to ensure confidentiality. To measure swimming performance, the best times from the fall 2015 season of the self-reported top three events of the participant were recorded.

The Power Point calculator (USASwimming, 2016) was used to convert swimming times into Power Point scores. Power Point scores are used to rank individuals on a standardized score, which allows comparison of swimming times across different swimming strokes, distances, ages, and gender (USASwimming, 2016). The scores range from 1-1100, with 1100 points representing the United States record (USASwimming, 2016). The Power Point calculator is available on the website (USASwimming, 2016) and allowed the researchers to enter an individual's swimming time and the calculator converted it to a Power Point score.

Procedures

The head coaches of Division I swimming and diving teams (132 Men's and 194 Women's programs) were contacted via e-mail (see Appendix B) on December 19th, 2015. This initial e-mail informed the coaches about the current

research study and requested student-athlete participation. This e-mail message was informational only, as coaches received a second e-mail approximately one week later with the survey link (see Appendix C). Coaches were asked to send the e-mail to their student-athletes and encourage them to participate in the study. In an effort to increase the response rate, reminder e-mails (see Appendices D, E, F, and G) were sent to the coaches at weekly intervals. The final e-mail (Appendix H; sent out February 1st, 2016) notified coaches that this is the last time that they were contacted about the study and included the closing date for data collection, which was February 5th, 2016. On this date, the access to the survey was closed and data collection was completed.

When participants clicked on the survey link they were directed to a statement about informed consent. If student-athletes continued to the surveys after reading the informed consent statement, they were consenting to participate. The surveys were hosted in Qualtrics with student-athletes completing the instruments in the following order: the CD-RISC 10 (10 items) and then the demographic survey (10 items). After completing the instruments, student-athletes were thanked for their participation. Student-athletes who wished to receive a copy of the results were asked to provide their name and contact information and were assured that this did not compromise the confidentiality of their data.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were performed on the demographic data. To analyze the main hypothesis of the current study, the relationship between resilience and swimming performance, a Pearson's *r* correlation was used. Data analysis for the secondary hypotheses varied. More specifically, a one-way ANOVA was administered to analyze the differences between athletic scholarships on resilience scores and a *t*-test was used to compare the differences in resilience scores between swimmers who experienced injury/illness to swimmers who did not. Statistics were computed using SPSS.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

The main purpose of this study was to (1) investigate the relationship between resilience and swimming times. Other purposes were to study resilience scores and the differences in (2) athletic scholarship (full athletic scholarship, partial athletic scholarship, no athletic scholarship), (3) nationality (U.S. Citizen, international student), (4) injury/illness.

Research Question 1

Is there a significant positive relationship between high resilience scores and higher Power Point Scores (faster swimming times)?

NCAA Division I swimmers scored high on the CD-RISC 10 (M = 28.78, SD = 4.87) with the scores ranging from 15 to 40. The Power Point scores were high (M = 753.94, SD = 117.74) with scores ranging from 204 to 995. To determine the relationship between resilience and Power Point scores, a Pearson's r correlation coefficient was calculated. The main hypothesis that high resilience scores will have a positive relationship with higher Power Point scores was not supported. There was no relationship between the two variables resilience and Power Point scores (r = -.036, p = .57). Therefore, it is suggested that resilience does not have a relationship with faster swimming times.

Research Question 2

Is there a significant difference between resilience scores and athletic scholarship (full athletic scholarship, partial athletic scholarship, no athletic scholarship)?

Frequency distribution revealed the distribution of athletic scholarship being mainly partial athletic scholarship (n = 136, 55.3%), then no athletic

scholarship (n = 70, 28.5 %), and full athletic scholarship (n = 40, 16.3%). A oneway analysis of variance was conducted to explore the impact of athletic scholarship on resilience. There was no statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level for the three groups of athletic scholarship: F(2, 243) = 0.03, p = .97. The results suggest that athletic scholarships did not have a difference in resilience scores.

Research Question 3

Is there a significant difference between resilience scores and nationality (U.S. Citizen and International Student)?

A frequency distribution revealed that the majority of the participants were U.S. Citizens (n = 221, 89.8 %), and only a small number were international students (n = 25, 10.2 %). Due to the uneven distribution of U.S. Citizens and international students, statistical analysis was not performed.

Research Question 4

Is there a significant difference between resilience scores and injury/illness?

A total of 68 student-athletes (27.6%) experienced a major injury or illness that resulted in a withdrawal from swimming practice for at least 2 months, whereas 178 student-athletes (72.4%) did not. An independent-samples *t*-test was conducted to compare resilience scores for swimmers who experienced a major injury/illness and swimmers who did not experience a major injury illness. There was no significant difference between swimmers with a major injury/illness (M =29.74, SD = 4.8) and swimmers without a major injury/illness (M =4.86; t (244) = 1.92, p = .056; Cohen's d = .28).

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Resilience was assumed to have a relationship with peak performance as previous studies investigated the importance of resilience in Olympic level athletes (Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Turner & Baker, 2013). This assumption was investigated in the current study. The hypotheses for the current study were (1) resilience scores and power point scores will have a significant positive relationship, (2) resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers with higher scholarships compared to swimmers with lower scholarships, (3) resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers who are international students compared to swimmers who are U.S. citizens, (4) resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers who experienced injury/illness compared to swimmers who did not experience injury/illness. No significance was found for all the hypotheses. The current study provided insight into the mindset of NCAA Division I swimmers. The results of the hypotheses were discussed in this chapter. Even though there was no significance, the results revealed information applicable for coaches, certified athletic trainers, and mental training practitioners. Limitations of the current study, along with directions for future research, are suggested to further the research on this topic.

Resilience and Swimming Times

The main research question investigated the relationship between resilience scores and swimming times. It was hypothesized that higher resilience scores had a relationship with faster swimming times. Results indicated no relationship between the two variables. This contradicts Howells and Fletcher (2015) and Turner and Baker (2013). Both studies conducted qualitative research with Olympic medal winning athletes (Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Turner & Baker, 2013). The results suggested that resilience was considered an important factor in achieving success (Howells & Fletcher, 2015; Turner & Baker, 2013). However, the researchers acknowledged that resilience was not the only contributing factor in the athletes' peak performance (Howells and Fletcher, 2015; Turner & Baker, 2013). More specifically, a study by Belem and colleagues (2014) identified factors such as confidence, motivation, and goal-setting as important as well. In this study, researchers investigated what coping strategies affected resilience in elite beach volleyball players (Belem et al., 2014).

One reason for the lack of significant findings in the current study could be that there were too many factors that can have an effect on swimming performance. For example, it is possible that some athletes were high in resilience, but that they may have not performed well in competition which would have influenced the results. Perhaps these swimmers were on a team that did not perform well at competitions as a whole. There is also the possibility that participants could have slower swim times in competition, but perhaps they are working very hard during training. This work ethic may result in positive attention from coaches and teammates, resulting in them achieving high resilience on the CD-RISC 10. In this scenario, the athletes would be defined as resilient, but because of their low swim performance, the hypothesis of a positive relationship between higher resilience scores and higher Power Point sores is not supported.

Resilience and Athletic Scholarship

The second hypothesis was that resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers with higher scholarships compared to swimmers with lower scholarships. According to Milton and colleagues (2012), athletes with higher athletic scholarships had higher GPAs. This suggested that athletes with higher scholarships experienced less adversity because they had better grades (Milton et al., 2012). However, athletic scholarship might result in a mindset change of "I want to practice" to "I have to practice" (Raedeke, 1997). This can lead to added pressure for the athlete and can result in burnout (Judge et al., 2012). Therefore, it was hypothesized that swimmers with a full athletic scholarship would score higher on the CD-RISC 10 than swimmers with either a partial athletic scholarship or no athletic scholarship. Results suggested that there was no significant difference between any of the three groups.

A full athletic scholarship in swimming determines if a swimmer is one of the top performers on the team. It is suggested that fast swimming does not predict higher resilience scores. Similarly, with the discussion of the main research question, athletes swimming performance cannot be determined by resilience scores. These results also suggest that receiving a monetary compensation through an athletic scholarship does not predict a swimmer's resilience.

An explanation could be derived from Judge and colleagues (2012), who suggested that females with high athletic scholarships also have higher academic scholarships. This suggests that female athletes experience less burnout with higher athletic scholarships than males because they do not rely solely on this scholarship (Judge et al., 2012).

Also, Rubin and Rosser (2014) suggested that student-athletes who compete in revenue sports experienced more academic difficulties and time management issues. The majority of the current study's sample was female and swimming is a non-revenue sport. This supports the findings of past research that females and non-revenue sports have less occurrences of adversity (Judge et al., 2012; Rubin & Rosser, 2014).

Resilience and Nationality

The third hypothesis was that resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers who are international students compared to swimmers who are U.S. citizens. There are many international students who study in the United States (Kaczmarek et al., 1994; Olivas & Li, 2006; Baba & Hosoda, 2014). Factors that result in adversity for international students are described as academic pressure, financial stress, homesickness (Baba & Hosoda, 2014), culture shock, changes in social and economic status, and discrimination (Oropeza et al., 1991). Jing (2009) studied 207 international students and investigated if international students with higher resilience had less adjustment problems coming to the United States. Results suggested that international students with higher resilience had fewer adjustment problems and were able to cope with changes more effectively (Jing, 2009). It is anticipated that international athletes with high resilience would deal with the transition well and would have good athletic performance. However, no statistical analysis was calculated for the current study as a frequency distribution revealed that the two groups studied were uneven with U.S. citizens (n = 221)being a much larger group than international students (n = 25).

Resilience and Injury/Illness

The fourth hypothesis was that resilience scores will be significantly higher in swimmers who experienced injury/illness compared to swimmers who did not experience injury/illness. Statistical analysis revealed no significance t (244) = 1.92, p = .056, Cohen's d = .28. The findings for this hypothesis give insight into the mindset of swimmers that dealt with injury/illness.

Swimmers who experienced an injury/illness that caused a two-month withdrawal from swim practice showed resilience by the swimmer still being active in the sport despite adversity. Past research on the topic of resilience and injury was mostly investigated in Traumatic Brian Injury (TBI) patients (Hanks et al., 2016), and spinal cord injuries (Kilic et al., 2013; White et al., 2010). Hanks and colleagues (2016) looked at the differences between resilience scores of patients experiencing TBI and individuals who do not have a cognitive impairment. The results suggested there was no difference between these two populations, which contradicts the findings of the current study (Hanks et al., 2016).

According to White and colleagues (2010), there was no difference in resilience when comparing scores at different time points during rehabilitation. Scores were collected in the first week of admission to rehabilitation, 3 weeks after admission, and at the week of discharge (White et al., 2010). However, it was unknown what the resilience scores were before the injury happened to identify if the injury caused a change in resilience. Another study by Kilic and colleagues (2013), studied resilience and spinal cord injury. More specifically, the researchers examined the differences in resilience scores between the severity of injury. Results with the 60 participants suggested that there were no differences of resilience scores between the severity of the injury (Kilic et al., 2013). There is evidence to support that participants with a severe physical injury relied the most on resilience during the rehabilitation process (Quale & Schanke, 2010). This goes along with the findings of the current study, as participants scored higher on resilience, who experience injury/illness compared to the athletes who did not.

Being out of the water for 2 months in swimming is a major setback, which could cause many swimmers to quit the sport or give up trying to get back to previous levels of competitiveness. However, it is unclear if resilience should be considered a trait or state. Did the swimmers who experienced the injury/illness, score high on resilience because of that event, which caused them to be more resilient, or were these swimmers resilient before, which is why they were able to overcome the adversity? This question could not be answered in this current study and will be discussed in more detail in the suggestions for future research.

Implications

Data analysis revealed no significant differences on the variables of interest in the present study. Regardless, these results provide insight into resilience for coaches, certified athletic trainers, and mental skills practitioners. Coaches can use this information for recruiting purposes. There was no significant finding for the relationship between resilience and swimming times. However, the positive trend for the differences of resilience between swimmers with injury/illness and swimmers without, suggests that coaches take a closer look at the athlete's past history. Being resilient is considered an important factor for athletes in general (Belem et al., 2014; Howells et al., 2015; Turner & Baker, 2013). While recruiting, a coach should consider learning more detail about the athlete's past and the responses to certain situations. The knowledge of having a swimmer that overcame an injury/illness that caused a withdrawal from swimming practice for at least 2 months, could potentially indicate that he/she is more resilient. That will distinguish this athlete from others, when it comes to adversity the swimmer might experience throughout the college career. It is suggested that this swimmer will have a more positive reaction to adversity and will be able to handle difficult situations better.

Certified Athletic Trainers (ATCs) could use the CD-RISC 10 at the beginning of the season with every athlete to determine their resilience score. Knowing how resilient an athlete is could help an ATC to determine whether the athlete will be able to overcome setbacks like injury/illness with ease or if more support will have to be provided in case of an injury/illness.

Mental training practitioners could consider using the CD-RISC 10 when they begin consultation with an athlete. This will help the mental training practitioner to establish the athlete's resilience, which will help to predict an athlete's response to adversity. Especially when an athlete experiences an injury or illness, the mental training practitioner will be able to have a prediction of the athlete's reaction and his/her ability to cope with this adversity. Mental training practitioners can also use the resilience scores to determine interventions with the athlete. If an athlete had low scores, it would be recommended to use resilience building consulting sessions to prevent negative reactions to adversity such as injury or illness.

Limitations and Recommendations for Future Research

A limitation of the current study is that the sample comprised only NCAA Division I swimmers. For future research it is recommended to include NCAA Division II and III as well as NAIA and club teams. Additionally, researchers may want to expand the participant pool beyond the collegiate level by including professional swimmers. This way, the resilience scores of collegiate athletes could be compared to those who compete professionally.

The age range was limited to 18 to 24 years, which excludes a large population of swimmers. Including High School and post-graduate swimmers would provide a wider age range, which would also allow for a wider range of Power Point scores. This leads to another limitation concerning that the performance level of swimmers was a close cluster of Power Point scores. The majority of the athletes in the current study had very similar Power Point scores. For future studies, researchers may want to include a wider variety of athletes scoring in the lower and higher ends of the Power Point scores to explore the relationship between resilience and swimming times.

A recommendation for future research would be to conduct a longitudinal design. Taking resilience scores from swimmers in their high school, college, and post graduate level would be suggested to see changes in swimmers resilience scores. This design with the inclusion of high school and post-graduate resilience scores would give insight into the changes in resilience throughout the three major stages of a swimmer's career.

To further this idea, changing the research design to a case study, could possibly reveal more detailed information. Using one group of freshmen and following them for all 4 years of college and taking resilience scores once or twice a year may provide opportunities to see observable changes in resilience. If this amount of time is not available, taking the resilience scores at the beginning of the season and the end of the season of one team could possibly be long enough to examine differences in resilience.

Another recommendation is to supplement the CD-RISC 10 with qualitative research. Qualitative research would allow investigators to examine the concept of resilience in more detail. It would provide information of every swimmer individually and it would give more information on why a swimmer might be more resilient than other swimmers. The inclusion of qualitative research might give an insight into the causes of being resilient and if resilience is a trait or a state.

It was recommended to include other sports in future research. This inclusion will allow researchers to investigate if resilience plays a role in peak performance on the collegiate level in general across sports. Supplementing the CD-RISC 10 with qualitative research including questions relating to resilience would provide a more detailed insight into the actual resilience of an athlete. This approach would possibly give information regarding the causes of the variations in resilience scores.

A different approach would be examining coach-athlete relationships and how a coach can build an athlete's resilience. A study by Philippe, Sagar, Gerber, and Hauw (2016), suggested an importance of how athletes perceive their coach and how he portrays mental toughness. Also, important for future research would be reviewing the mindset literature and how coaches can affect athletes' mindsets. A coach who has a fixed mindset could be a role model to the athletes and display the idea that natural talent is the most important, which would set athletes into the believe that there is no room to grow (Dweck, 2009).

<u>Summary</u>

The current study took a novel approach by exploring resilience and its relationship with sport performance. Also, the study's population was swimmers, which is not a common population for research in the sport psychology field. Even though there was no significance for any of the hypotheses, this study yields a beginning for more research to follow in the future.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Allegany County Public Schools (n.d.). NCAA athletic eligibility information. Retrieved from http://www.acpsmd.org/Page/1456
- Baba, Y., & Hosoda, M. (2014). Home away home: Better understanding of the role of social support in predicting cross-cultural adjustment among international students. *College Student Journal*, 48(1), 1-15.
- Belem, I. C., Malheiros Caruzzo, N., Andrade do Nascimento Junior, J. R., Lopes Vieira, J. L., & Fiorese Vieira, L. (2014). Impact of coping strategies on resilience of elite beach volleyball athletes. *Brazilian Journal of Kineanthropometry & Human Performance*, 16(4), 447-455.
- Blackwell, L. S., Trzesniewski, K. H., & Dweck, C. S. (2007). Implicit theories of intelligence predict achievement across an adolescent transition: A longitudinal study and an intervention. *Child Development*, 78(1), 246-263. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00995.x
- Chartoff, R., Winkler, I. (Producers), & Stallone, S. (Director). (2006). *Rocky Balboa* [Motion picture]. USA: Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer.
- Coates, E. E., Phares, V., & Dedrick, R. F. (2013). Psychometric properties of the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale 10 among low-income, African American men. *Psychological Assessment*, 25(4), 1349-1354. doi:10.1037/a0033434
- Davidson, J.R.T., & Connor, K.M. (2015). *Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale* (*CD-RISC*) Manual. Unpublished.
- Dweck, C. S. (2008). *Mindset: The new psychology of success: [how we can learn to fulfill our potential]*. New York, NY: Ballantine Books.
- Dweck, C. S. (2009). Mindsets: Developing talent through a growth mindset. *Olympic Coach*, 21(1), 4-7.
- Dweck, C. S. (2010). Even geniuses work hard. *Educational Leadership*, 68(1), 16-20.
- Dweck, C. S. (2012). Mindsets and human nature: Promoting change in the Middle East, the schoolyard, the racial divide, and willpower. *American Psychologist*, 67(8), 614-622. doi:10.1037/a0029783

- Erdley, C. A., Loomis, C. C., Cain, K. M., & Dumas-Hines, F. (1997). Relations among children's social goals, implicit personality theories, and responses to social failure. *Developmental Psychology*, 33(2), 263-272. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.33.2.263
- Evans, A., & Slater, M. (2014). Getting down with the kids: Doing sport psychology with gifted and talented youth athletes. *Sport & Exercise Psychology Review*, *10*(3), 58-67.
- Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2012). A grounded theory of psychological resilience in Olympic champions. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *13*(5), 669-678.
- Fujikawa, M., Lee, E.-J., Chan, F., Catalano, D., Hunter, C., Bengtson, K., & Rahimi, M. (2013). The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale as a positive psychology measure for people with spinal cord injuries. *Rehabilitation Research, Policy, and Education, 27*(3), 213-222.
- Galli, N., & Gonzalez, S. P. (2015). Psychological resilience in sport: A review of the literature and implications for research and practice. *International Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 13(3), 243-257.
- Galli, N., & Vealey, R. S. (2008). 'Bouncing back' from adversity: Athletes' experiences of resilience. *The Sport Psychologist*, 22(3), 316-335.
- Gucciardi, D. F., & Gordon, S. (2009). Development and preliminary validation of the Cricket Mental Toughness Inventory (CMTI). *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 27(12), 1293-1310.
- Gunderson, E. A., Gripshover, S. J., Romero, C., Dweck, C. S., Goldin-Meadow, S., & Levine, S. C. (2013). Parent praise to 1- to 3-year-olds predicts children's motivational frameworks 5 years later. *Child Development*, 84(5), 1526-1541. doi:10.1111/cdev.12064
- Hanks, R. A., Rapport, L. J., Waldron Perrine, B., & Millis, S. R. (2016). Correlates of resilience in the first 5 years after traumatic brain injury. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, doi:10.1037/rep0000069
- Harris, H. L., Altekruse, M. K., & Engels, D. W. (2003). Helping freshman student athletes adjust to college life using psychoeducational groups. *Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 28(1), 64-81.
- Heslin, P. A., & VandeWalle, D. (2008). Managers' implicit assumptions about personnel. *Current Directions in Psychological Science (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 17(3), 219-223. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00578.x

- Howells, K., & Fletcher, D. (2015). Sink or swim: Adversity- and growth-related experiences in Olympic swimming champions. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 16(Part 3), 37-48. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.08.004
- Jing, W. (2009). A study of resiliency characteristics in the adjustment of international graduate students at American universities. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 13(1), 22-45.
- Judge, L. W., Bell, R. J., Theodore, R., Simon, L., & Bellar, D. (2012). An exploratory examination of burnout in NCAA division II athletes. *Journal of Intercollegiate Sport*, 5(2), 230-240.
- Kaczmarek, P. G., Matlock, G., Merta, R., Ames, M. H., & Ross, M. (1994). An assessment of international college student adjustment. *International Journal For The Advancement of Counselling*, 17(4), 241-247. doi:10.1007/ BF01407740
- Kasimatis, M., Miller, M., & Marcussen, L. (1996). The effects of implicit theories on exercise motivation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 30(4), 510-516.
- Kilic, S. A., Dorstyn, D. S., & Guiver, N. G. (2013). Examining factors that contribute to the process of resilience following spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord*, 51(7), 553-557.
- Le Crom, C. L., Warren, B. J., Clark, H. T., Marolla, J., & Gerber, P. (2009). Factors contributing to student-athlete retention. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 2, 14-23.
- Madrigal, L., Hamill, S., & Gill, D. L. (2013). Mind over matter: The development of the Mental Toughness Scale (MTS). *The Sport Psychologist*, 27(1), 62-77.
- Manzano-García, G., & Ayala Calvo, J. C. (2013). Psychometric properties of Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale in a Spanish sample of entrepreneurs. *Propiedades psicométricas de la Escala de Resiliencia de Connor-Davidson en una muestra de emprendedores españoles. Psicothema, 25*(2), 245-251. doi:10.7334/psicothema2012.183
- Milton, P. R., Freeman, D., & Williamson, L. M. (2012). Do athletic scholarships impact academic success of intercollegiate student-athletes: An exploratory investigation. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, *5*, 329-338.

- Mueller, C. M., & Dweck, C. S. (1998). Praise for intelligence can undermine children's motivation and performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75(1), 33-52. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.33
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (n.d.). *About the NCAA*. Retrieved from http://www.ncaa.org/about
- Olivas, M., & Li, C. (2006). Understanding stressors of international students in higher education: What college counselors and personnel need to know. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, *33*(3), 217-222.
- Ommundsen, Y. (2001). Self-handicapping strategies in physical education classes: The influence of implicit theories of the nature of ability and achievement goal orientations. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 2(3), 139-156.
- Orlick, T. (2008). *In pursuit of excellence* (4th ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Oropeza, B. C., Fitzgibbon, M., & Barón Jr., A. (1991). Managing mental health crises of foreign college students. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 69(3), 280.
- Paunesku, D., Walton, G. M., Romero, C., Smith, E. N., Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Mind-Set interventions are a scalable treatment for academic underachievement. *Psychological Science*, 26(6), 784-793. doi:10.1177/0956797615571017
- Philippe, R. A., Sagar, S. S., Gerber, M., & Hauw, D. (2016). Players' perceptions of coaches' contributions to their mental toughness. *International Journal of Coaching Science*, 10(1), 37-51.
- Quale, A. J., & Schanke, A. (2010). Resilience in the face of coping with a severe physical injury: A study of trajectories of adjustment in a rehabilitation setting. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 55(1), 12-22. doi:10.1037/a0018415
- Raedeke, T. D. (1997). Is athlete burnout more than just stress? A sport commitment perspective. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 19(4), 396-417.
- Romero, C., Master, A., Paunesku, D., Dweck, C. S., & Gross, J. J. (2014). Academic and emotional functioning in middle school: The role of implicit theories. *Emotion*, 14(2), 227-234. doi:10.1037/a0035490

- Rubin, L. M., & Rosser, V. J. (2014). Comparing division IA scholarship and nonscholarship student-athletes: A discriminant analysis. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 7, 743-764.
- Sarkar, M., & Fletcher, D. (2013). How should we measure psychological resilience in sport performers? *Measurement in Physical Education & Exercise Science*, 17(4), 264-280.
- Sarkar, M., & Fletcher, D. (2014). Psychological resilience in sport performers: a review of stressors and protective factors. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 32(15), 1419-1434. doi:10.1080/02640414.2014.901551
- Schinke, R. J., & Jerome, W. C. (2002). Understanding and refining the resilience of elite athletes: An intervention strategy. *Athletic Insight*, 4(3), 1-13.
- Spray, C. M., Biddle, S. J. H., Chatzisarantis, N. L. D., & Wang, C. K. J. (2003). Motivation for physical activity in young people: entity and incremental beliefs about athletic ability. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 21(12), 973-989.
- Sriram, R. (2014). Rethinking intelligence: The role of mindset in promoting success for academically high-risk students. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 15*(4), 515-536. doi:10.2190/ CS.15.4.c
- Tabernero, C., & Wood, R. E. (1999). Implicit Theories versus the social construal of ability in self-regulation and performance on a complex task. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 78(2), 104-127.
- Turner, M. J., & Barker, J. B. (2013). Resilience: Lessons from the 2012 Olympic Games. *Reflective Practice*, 14(5), 622-631. doi:10.1080/14623943.2013. 835724
- USASwimming (2016). *Power points*. Retrieved from http://www.usaswimming.org/DesktopDefault.aspx?TabId=1483&Alias=Rai nbow&Lang=en
- White, B., Driver, S., & Warren, A. M. (2010). Resilience and indicators of adjustment during rehabilitation from a spinal cord injury. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 55(1), 23-32. doi:10.1037/a0018451
- Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2012). Mindsets that promote resilience: When students believe that personal characteristics can be developed. *Educational Psychologist*, 47(4), 302-314. doi:10.1080/00461520.2012.722805

- Yeager, D. S., Johnson, R., Spitzer, B. J., Trzesniewski, K. H., Powers, J., & Dweck, C. S. (2014). The far-reaching effects of believing people can change: Implicit theories of personality shape stress, health, and achievement during adolescence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 106(6), 867-884. doi:10.1037/a0036335
- Chartoff, R., Winkler, I. (Producers), & Stallone, S. (Director). (2006). *Rocky Balboa* [Motion picture]. USA: Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEY

Demographic Survey

Please fill in the following information:

Age:	
Years of competitive swimming:	
Your personal top 3 events:	1)
(ex. 50 free, 100back, 200back)	2)
	3)

Please check the following that you most identify with:

Athletic Scholarship:

- Full Athletic Scholarship
- Partial Athletic Scholarship
- No Athletic Scholarship

Gender:

- o Male
- o Female
- o Other / Choose not to disclose

Year in College:

- o Freshmen
- \circ Sophomore
- o Junior
- \circ Senior
- o Super Senior
- o Graduate Student

Nationality:

- o U.S. Citizen
- o International Student

Ethnicity:

- African American
- o Asian
- o Hispanic
- \circ Indian
- Native American
- Pacific Islander
- White / Caucasian
- Other: _____
- Choose not to disclose

Injury and Illness:

Have you ever experienced a major injury or illness that caused a withdrawal from swimming participation for at least 2 months?

YesNo

If yes, when did it occur?

o ______ (mm/yyyy - mm/yyyy)

Name:_____

Note: Your name will be used to look up personal best times from www.usaswimming.org. Your name will not be used for any other purposes and will be held separate from other information to ensure confidentiality.

Thank you for your participation in this study. If you would like to see the results of this study, please provide your e-mail address. (Please note that your responses will remain confidential.)

APPENDIX B: INITIAL E-MAIL

Hello,

My name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at California State University, Fresno. I am conducting my Master's thesis on the relationship between resilience and swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers.

I personally competed for four years at Drury University with Coach Brian Reynolds and am currently working with the women's Fresno State Swimming & Diving team with Coach Jeanne Fleck. I am very passionate about my thesis topic because of my lifelong participation in swimming. I would greatly appreciate if your team would participate in this study.

A week from now, I will be following up this e-mail with a link to my survey. The survey should take no longer than 5 minutes to complete and is easily accessible on the phone. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects. The questionnaire will ask for the participant's name, which will be used to look up swimming results from the past season on www.usaswimming.org. All information will be confidential.

If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

APPENDIX C: E-MAIL WITH LINK TO SURVEY

Hello,

My name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at California State University, Fresno. I contacted you a week ago that I am conducting my Master's thesis on resilience and its relationship with swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers. There is limited research on resilience as it relates to swimming performance, which is why I encourage your swimmers to participate by filling out the questionnaires.

Below you can find a link that will bring you to an informed consent statement, and the questionnaires. Please provide this link to your swimmers. The survey supports phone access, which will make the completion more convenient and should take no longer than 5 minutes.

The questionnaire will ask for the participant's name, which will be used to look up swimming results from the fall 2015 semester www.usaswimming.org. The name will be kept separate from the questionnaires to ensure confidentiality. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects and all information will be confidential.

https://fresnostate.co1.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_4Pfd1sw9DdLbowd

If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

APPENDIX D: E-MAIL REMINDER 1

Hello,

As a friendly reminder, my name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at the California State University, Fresno. I contacted you about me conducting my Master's thesis on resilience and its relationship with swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers.

If your team completed the survey already, thank you very much and please disregard this request. If you have distributed the link to your team already, please remind them about taking the survey. If you have not yet done so, please provide the link below to your swimmers, which will provide all the information for the participants and the questionnaires.

The questionnaire will ask for the participant's name, which will be used to look up swimming results from the past season on www.usaswimming.org. The name will be kept separate from the questionnaires to ensure confidentiality. The survey should take no longer than 5 minutes to complete. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects and all information will be confidential.

https://fresnostate.co1.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_4Pfd1sw9DdLbowd

If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

APPENDIX E: E-MAIL REMINDER 2

Hello,

As a friendly reminder, my name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at the California State University, Fresno. I contacted you about me conducting my Master's thesis on resilience and its relationship with swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers.

If your team completed the survey already, thank you very much and please disregard this request. If you have distributed the link to your team already, please remind them about taking the survey. If you have not yet done so, please provide the link below to your swimmers, which will provide all the information for the participants and the questionnaires.

The questionnaire will ask for the participant's name, which will be used to look up swimming results from the past season on www.usaswimming.org. The name will be kept separate from the questionnaires to ensure confidentiality. The survey should take no longer than 5 minutes to complete. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects and all information will be confidential.

https://fresnostate.co1.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_4Pfd1sw9DdLbowd

If you have any questions please feel free to contact me at igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

APPENDIX F: E-MAIL REMINDER 3

Hello,

As a friendly reminder, my name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at the California State University, Fresno. I contacted you about me conducting my Master's thesis on resilience and its relationship with swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers.

If your team completed the survey already, thank you very much and please disregard this request. If you have distributed the link to your team already, please remind them about taking the survey. If you have not yet done so, please provide the link below to your swimmers, which will provide all the information for the participants and the questionnaires.

The questionnaire will ask for the participant's name, which will be used to look up swimming results from the past season on www.usaswimming.org. The name will be kept separate from the questionnaires to ensure confidentiality.

The survey should take no longer than 5 minutes to complete. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects and all information will be confidential.

https://fresnostate.co1.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_4Pfd1sw9DdLbowd

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

APPENDIX G: E-MAIL REMINDER 4

Hello,

As a friendly reminder, my name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at the California State University, Fresno. During my undergraduate studies, I competed for Drury University under Brian Reynolds and am currently working with the Fresno State Women's Swimming and Diving team under Jeanne Fleck. I contacted you about me conducting my Master's thesis on resilience and its relationship with swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers.

If your team completed the survey already, thank you very much and please disregard this request. If you have distributed the link to your team already, please remind them about taking the survey. If you have not yet done so, please provide the link below to your swimmers, which will provide all the information for the participants and the questionnaires.

Currently I do not have enough participants to conduct statistics with my data and I would really appreciate if you would consider providing this study to your swimmers. The survey should take no longer than 5 minutes to complete. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects and all information will be confidential.

The following is the link through which your swimmers can access the survey:

https://fresnostate.co1.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_4Pfd1sw9DdLbowd

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

APPENDIX H: E-MAIL REMINDER 5

Hello,

As a friendly reminder, my name is Igor Kowal and I am a graduate student in Kinesiology – Sport Psychology at the California State University, Fresno. I contacted you about me conducting my Master's thesis on resilience and its relationship with swimming performance in NCAA Division I swimmers. This is the last e-mail you will receive about this study. The access to the survey will be closed Friday, February 5th.

If your team completed the survey already, thank you very much and please disregard this request. If you have not yet done so, please provide the link below to your swimmers, which will provide all the information for the participants and the questionnaires. The questionnaire will ask for the participant's name, which will be used to look up swimming results from the fall season on www.usaswimming.org. The name will be kept separate from the questionnaires to ensure confidentiality. The survey should take no longer than 5 minutes to complete. This study has been approved for the use of human subjects and all information will be confidential.

https://fresnostate.co1.qualtrics.com/SE/?SID=SV_4Pfd1sw9DdLbowd

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at

igorkowal@mail.fresnostate.edu or my Thesis Chair, Dr. Jenelle N. Gilbert (jgilbert@csufresno.edu or 559-278-8902).

Sincerely,

Igor Kowal

California State University, Fresno Kinesiology - Sport Psychology Graduate Assistant - Kinesiology Graduate Department Teaching Associate - KAC 4 Student-Manager - Women's Swimming & Diving

Fresno State

Non-Exclusive Distribution License

(to archive your thesis/dissertation electronically via the library's eCollections database)

By submitting this license, you (the author or copyright holder) grant to Fresno State Digital Scholar the non-exclusive right to reproduce, translate (as defined in the next paragraph), and/or distribute your submission (including the abstract) worldwide in print and electronic format and in any medium, including but not limited to audio or video.

You agree that Fresno State may, without changing the content, translate the submission to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation.

You also agree that the submission is your original work, and that you have the right to grant the rights contained in this license. You also represent that your submission does not, to the best of your knowledge, infringe upon anyone's copyright.

If the submission reproduces material for which you do not hold copyright and that would not be considered fair use outside the copyright law, you represent that you have obtained the unrestricted permission of the copyright owner to grant Fresno State the rights required by this license, and that such third-party material is clearly identified and acknowledged within the text or content of the submission.

If the submission is based upon work that has been sponsored or supported by an agency or organization other than Fresno State, you represent that you have fulfilled any right of review or other obligations required by such contract or agreement.

Fresno State will clearly identify your name as the author or owner of the submission and will not make any alteration, other than as allowed by this license, to your submission. By typing your name and date in the fields below, you indicate your agreement to the terms of this distribution license.

Embargo options (fill box with an X).

X Make my thesis or dissertation available to eCollections immediately upon submission.

Embargo my thesis or dissertation for a period of 2 years from date of graduation.

Embargo my thesis or dissertation for a period of 5 years from date of graduation.

Igor Kowal

Type full name as it appears on submission

April 14, 2015

Date